THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge  
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Judge

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000948  
CASE NO. 2015-CP-40-5598

---

Modesta Brinkman, David  
Brinkman, James Coleman,  
Carl Foster, Karen Foster,  
Robert Collins,

Appellants,

v.

City of Columbia, South  
Carolina, North American  
Pipeline Management and  
Layne Inliner,

Respondents.

**RECEIVED**

OCT 23 2018

SC Court of Appeals

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

John Adams Hodge, S.C Bar No. 2540  
Sharon A. Hodge, S.C. Bar No. 2541  
Hodge & Associates, LLC

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Circuit Court err in issuing summary judgment finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780 is inapplicable to this case?**
- II. **Even if the Court of Appeals determines that the Circuit Court's interpretation is permissible, are the Defendants still liable through actual and constructive knowledge of the existence of historical and archaeological resources on the Plaintiffs' properties?**
- III. **Did the Circuit Court err in issuing summary judgment that no preservation or conservation authorities had designated the bridge abutments on Plaintiffs' properties as archaeological resource(s) or archaeological structure(s)?**
- IV. **Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that designation on the National Register of Historic Places was a requirement for S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780 to be applicable to this case?**
- V. **Is the Circuit Court's misstatement of the law grounds for reversal?**
- VI. **Did the Circuit Court err in issuing summary judgment that the Defendants NAPM and the City of Columbia were immune from liability for the destruction of archaeological resources because of the "utility worker exception" in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780 (K)(3)?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal of an Order of the Circuit Court granting summary judgment to the Defendants NAPM and the City of Columbia regarding the applicability of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780. The matter deals with the entry by the Defendants on lands of the Plaintiffs and the excavation and the destruction of archaeological resources that were outside of an easement that had been granted to the Defendant City. The Plaintiffs filed suit against the Defendants on grounds of disturbance and "destruction of archaeological structures," nuisance, trespass, taking, negligence, and negligence *per se*. This appeal addresses only the claim regarding the private right of action that is allowed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780 (I).

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on September 11, 2015, an Amended Complaint on December 16, 2015, and a Second Amended Complaint on January 13, 2016. The Plaintiffs are the owners of real property on Castle Road: Plaintiffs Modesta and David Brinkman own the property and reside at 154 Castle Road; Plaintiff James Coleman owns the property and resides at 150 Castle Road; Plaintiffs Carl and Karen Foster own the property and reside at 142 Castle Road; and Plaintiff Robert Collins owns the real property located at 156 Castle Road, which is undeveloped, but does not reside there. The Defendants that remain in the case are the City of Columbia (“the City”) that holds a permanent easement across the Plaintiffs’ land for the purpose of maintaining a sewer line, Layne Inliner (“Layne”) is a company that was awarded a contract by the City to place a lining in its sewer pipes, and North America Pipeline Management (“NAPM”) is a company hired by Layne to perform land clearing and grading along the easement in preparation for Layne’s work.

Both parties filed numerous motions during the pendency of the case. Most notably, the Defendant Weston and Sampson filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on October 30, 2017 that was granted in part dismissing several Weston and Sampson corporate defendants.

The Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the trespass cause of action on January 8, 2018. The Motion was denied on grounds that there remained issues of fact regarding the presence of some of the Defendants outside of the easement, but the Court ruled that any temporary construction easement that may have existed across the Plaintiffs’ property expired when the sewer line that is the subject of this case was built

in the 1980s. The Court confirmed that a permanent easement of fifteen (15) feet exists across the Plaintiffs' properties.

The Defendant Layne Inliner filed Motion for Summary Judgment alleging multiple grounds, which was denied, and partial summary judgment was granted to the Defendant Weston and Sampson Engineers, Inc. The Plaintiffs have since settled with Weston and Sampson Engineers, Inc.

On October 20, 2017, the City of Columbia filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. On May 23, 2017, the Court granted partial summary judgment dismissing the Plaintiff Pamela Collins from the action, because she was not a record owner of real property with her husband Robert Collins. Additionally, relying wholly on the Order of Judge Cooper (the other Order that is the subject of this appeal) which dismissed claims against NAPM under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780, Judge Newman also dismissed the claims against the City of Columbia pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780. This appeal addresses both Judge Cooper's and Judge Newman's dismissal of the S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780 claims that were brought by the Plaintiffs against NAPM and the City of Columbia, respectively.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

In the 1790s, a French engineer named John Compty built two bridges that were the first to cross the Broad River, thus connecting Columbia with the frontier to the north and west. The first bridge was built on the lands now owned by the Plaintiff James Coleman. A flood washed that bridge away, and a few years later, a second bridge was constructed on the lands now owned by the Plaintiffs David and Modesta Brinkman.

After that bridge was destroyed in another flood, Mr. Compty operated a ferry service that connected Columbia with the frontier to the west. (Tr \_\_\_)

In 1985 through 1987, the City of Columbia acquired easements along the Broad River and constructed a sewer line across lands that were later acquired by the Plaintiffs. In approximately 2004, Plaintiff David Brinkman determined that a stone structure on his property was man-made. At first, he believed that the structure was part of an old ferry crossing. In 2007, the South Carolina State Archaeologist, Dr. Jonathan Leader, identified the structure as a bridge abutment. (Tr \_\_\_) Plaintiff David Brinkman conducted historical research, and he initially hypothesized that the abutment was related to a bridge that General Sherman used to enter Columbia for the purpose of occupying and burning the City in February 1865. (Tr \_\_\_) In 2007, Mr. Brinkman contacted the South Carolina Department of Archives and History for the purpose of having the bridge abutments nominated for listing on the National Register of Historic Places (National Register). Mr. Brinkman received a letter from Mr. Andrew W. Chandler in February 2008 that referred to Mr. Brinkman's work as "impressive," but declined to include the site for nomination to the National Register because further evaluation was necessary. (Tr \_\_\_) At this time, Mr. Brinkman believed that his and Dr. Coleman's property contained the remains of the Sherman Bridge.

Later in 2008, Mr. Brinkman determined that the Sherman Bridge was located elsewhere, and this finding was subsequently confirmed by the State Archaeologist. (Tr \_\_\_) This story was featured on the PBS show History Detectives. (Tr \_\_\_) Mr. Brinkman subsequently identified the abutments on his and Plaintiff Coleman's property

as the John Comptly bridge abutments that date from much earlier in the 1790s. The State Archaeologist concurred with Mr. Brinkman's findings. (Tr \_\_\_)

As part of a sewer maintenance plan to evaluate and upgrade the City's sewer pipes, the City of Columbia developed a "2020 Plan." The 2020 Plan was in part the result of the United States Environmental Protection Agency's oversight of discharge of effluent from municipal sewer systems. (Tr \_\_\_) In 2014, the City entered into a contract with the Defendant Layne Inliner to place a synthetic liner into certain sewer pipes that were owned by the City. Layne Inliner then hired the Defendant North American Pipeline Management (NAPM) for the purpose of land clearing in preparation for this maintenance work.

In a September 2014 meeting, each of the Defendants discussed building an access road across the Plaintiffs' properties for the purpose of the aforementioned sewer maintenance project. (Tr \_\_\_) The memorandum memorializing the meeting states that the road was intended to be constructed within the fifteen (15) foot permanent easement that existed across the Plaintiffs' properties. Defendant Layne Inliner was on record as recommending that this access road be constructed, and a budget was developed that included extra funds for the removal of rock. (Tr \_\_\_) There is a dispute of fact as to whether the road and maintenance work was actually needed, as discovery produced by the Defendants stated that the work was not needed in the vicinity of Plaintiffs' property, but it was unspent money in the budget that could be applied toward this work. (Tr \_\_\_)

On or about February 5, 2015, the Defendants, without any notice whatsoever to the Plaintiffs, began land clearing and excavation activities in their backyards.

Defendant NAPM was identified as the operator of earth moving equipment that cut a road into the steep bank on the Plaintiffs' properties. The clearing and excavation exceeded the existing fifteen-foot permanent easement, and extended to between thirty to as much as fifty feet in width. (Tr \_\_\_) It is undisputed that the two Comptly Bridge abutments were located outside of the fifteen-foot easement. (Tr \_\_\_) At the time that this work was ongoing, personnel from the Defendant City were plainly aware that the work exceeded the dimensions of the easement. (Tr \_\_\_) While the land disturbance was ongoing, an NAPM official indicated to one of the Plaintiffs that he was not sure of the width of the easement. (Tr \_\_\_) NAPM representatives were present during the September 2014 meeting in which the fifteen (15) foot width was discussed and memorialized in a construction memo. (Tr \_\_\_)

The Plaintiff James Coleman pointed out the bridge abutment and advised the NAPM crew that the bridge abutment on his property was a historic structure that should be avoided. (Tr \_\_\_) Nevertheless, when he returned to his property, the bridge abutment had been destroyed despite his warning. Prior to its destruction, NAPM was provided specific notice that the abutment on Dr. Coleman's property was historical in nature. (Tr \_\_\_) Earth moving equipment that was operated by the Defendant NAPM knocked over and destroyed both of the Comptly Bridge Abutments. These structures were outside of the permanent easement. (Tr \_\_\_) Based upon citizen complaints, the work was stopped by the City on February 12, 2015.

It is undisputed that neither the Defendant City of Columbia nor the other Defendants obtained any permits for the work that was undertaken. The remains of the Comptly Abutment were deposited in jurisdictional wetlands that are regulated by the

United States Army Corps of Engineers, and The Corps found that a violation of Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1344, had occurred. (Tr \_\_\_) It is further undisputed that none of the Defendants conducted a cultural or historical resources survey prior to the commencement of their work on the Plaintiffs' property.

Pursuant to his duties as South Carolina State Archaeologist, Dr. Jonathan Leader conducted a damage assessment of the archaeological resources on the property of the Brinkman and Coleman Plaintiffs. Dr. Leader documented that the Plaintiffs' properties were a "multi-cultural" site and that archaeological resources including the Comptey Bridge Abutments were disturbed at the site, and he computed the cost of rehabilitating and repairing the Comptey Abutments. (Tr \_\_\_)

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC." *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000), *holding modified on other grounds by State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004), *Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Coffey*, 404 S.C. 421, 425, 746 S.E.2d 35, 37 (2013). Rule 56 provides that the trial court shall grant summary judgment if "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. "In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). "Summary judgment is not appropriate when further inquiry into the facts of the case is

desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Transportation*, 391 S.C. 429, 434, 706 S.E. 2d 501, 504 (2011). "Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts." *Id.* "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Id. McAlhany v. Carter*, 415 S.C. 54 62-63, 781 S.E. 2d 105 (S.C. App., 2015)

## ARGUMENTS

### I. THE COURT WAS IN ERROR IN ITS STATUTORY INTERPRETATION THAT S.C. CODE Ann. § 16-11-780(C) WAS INAPPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.

#### A. The Circuit Court failed to properly apply the rules of statutory construction.

The Orders that granted NAPM and the City Summary Judgment incorrectly applied the adverbs "willfully, knowingly or maliciously" to sections of the statute beyond the verb modified by these adverbs. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-780(c) reads as follows:

It is unlawful for a person to willfully, knowingly, or maliciously enter upon the lands of another or the posted lands of the State and disturb or excavate a prehistoric or historic site for the purpose of discovering, uncovering, moving, removing, or attempting to remove an archaeological resource. Each unlawful entry and act of disturbance or excavation of a prehistoric or historic site constitutes a separate and distinct offense.

The Court made a fundamental error in finding that a person must have precise knowledge that they entered the land of another with the sole intent to disturb a site that

they knew was an archaeological resource. Statutory construction using the words “willfully, knowingly or maliciously” only modify entering the lands of another. These adverbs in the statute do not require knowledge of the archeological resource.

Both the Court of Appeals and the Fourth Circuit have previously addressed this issue and answered the question of whether “knowingly” applies to all details of a statute after the verb. *State v. Miles* 805 S.E. 2d 204 (S.C. App., 2017), *United States v. Jones*, 471 F. 3d 535 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) The answer is clearly ‘no’. The intent adverb only modifies the following verb. For example, in *Miles*, a defendant only needs to know that he is transporting drugs, but does not need to know the actual weight of the drugs or that the drug is oxycodone. Similarly, in *Jones*, a defendant can be found guilty of sex trafficking of minors if he knows that he is transporting a person. “Knowingly” does not extend beyond the verb and apply to the defendant knowing the victim is under eighteen years of age. Based upon *Miles* and *Jones, supra.*, a reasonable plain language reading of the statute does not require that persons know that the site which they disturbing is a historic or prehistoric site or that it is an archaeological resource. What they must know is that they are excavating and disturbing something on the lands of another.

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislature's intent. *State v. Smith*, 330 S.C. 237, 498 S.E.2d 648 (Ct.App.1998). In construing a statute, words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning, without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. *Id.* If a statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation, and this court has no right to look for or impose another meaning. *Id.* Where a statute is complete and

unambiguous, legislative intent must be determined from the plain language of the statute. *Id.* The statute's text "must be construed in context and in light of the intended purpose of the statute in a manner which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose." *Cabiness v. Town of James Island*, 393 S.C. 176, 192, 712 S.E.2d 416, 425 (2011) (citation and internal quotations omitted). "The primary rule of statutory construction is that the Court must ascertain the intention of the legislature." *Cooper v. Moore*, 351 S.C. 207, 212, 569 S.E.2d 330, 332 (2002). "In ascertaining the intent of the legislature, a court should not focus on any single section or provision but should consider the language of the statute as a whole." *Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman*, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996). "Subtle or forced construction of statutory words for the purpose of expanding a statute's operation is prohibited." *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 624, 503 S.E.2d 471, 478 (1998).

The Circuit Court's Order erroneously insists that "willfully, knowingly or maliciously" must apply to other aspects of the statute beyond "entering the lands of another." This contention becomes absurd when the Court makes the claim that the person violating this statute must have prior knowledge that the thing being disturbed is an archeological resource. The construction of the statute by the Circuit Court, which required advance knowledge that artifacts such as the Compty Bridge Abutments were archaeological resources, does not comport with the rules of statutory construction or interpretation by case law. On its face, the statute does not require that one have advance knowledge that a site is an archaeological resource or that one's actions must necessarily be malicious. When the Court used the terms "knowingly, willfully, and "maliciously"

as modifying the words “a historic site” or “for the purpose of”, the result is nonsensical. “Willfully, knowingly, and maliciously” only make sense in modifying a verb such as “enter” and “excavate”. Under the rules of grammar, a person can willfully excavate without knowing what they are excavating. Such activity often occurs in discovery of buried antiquities.

The word “discovering” in the second part of the statute demonstrates the flaw in the Circuit Court’s apparent reasoning. The statute places liability on one who “willfully, knowingly, or maliciously enters the lands of another...and disturb or excavate a prehistoric site for the purpose of discovering...an archaeological resource.” One cannot discover something if they already have knowledge of it. The Circuit Court’s Order makes no sense when its interpretation is read literally.

The second part of the statute has its own separate requirement of *mens rea* in “for the purpose of.” This *mens rea* requirement modifies a list of verbs that follows. “For the purpose of moving an archeological resource” is very different from “knowingly moving an archeological resource that is known to the defendant.” An object can be purposefully moved without knowledge of details and specifications of the object itself. The statutory language can apply without any modification to a situation where a historical resource is merely moved because it is in someone’s way.

The South Carolina Legislature has been very specific in other criminal statutes applying *mens rea* when it intends facts beyond the verb to be modified with the same *mens rea*. Examples include statutes prohibiting attacking a law enforcement officer and transporting stolen timber.

It is unlawful for a person to **knowingly and willfully** ... assault, beat, or wound an officer when the person is resisting an arrest being made by one whom the person **knows or reasonably should know** is a law enforcement officer, whether under process or not. S.C.Code Ann. § 16-9-320(B). (emphasis added)

and

It is unlawful for a person to **knowingly and willfully** transport forest products if the person **knows** that the forest products have been cut, removed, obtained, or acquired from the property of a landowner in violation of the provisions of this subsection. S.C.Code Ann. § 16-11-580(A)(4). (emphasis added)

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