THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

---

APPELLATE CASE NO: 2018-000948  
CIVIL ACTION NO: 2015-CP-40-05598

---

**RECEIVED**  
APR 12 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

Modesta Brinkman, David Brinkman, James Coleman, Carl Foster, Karen Foster and Robert  
Collins,  
Appellants,

v.

City of Columbia, North American Pipeline Management, and Layne Inliner,  
Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF COLUMBIA**

---

W. Michael Hemlepp, Jr.  
Office of the City Attorney  
Post Office Box 667  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

*(3) "Commercial value" means the fair market value of the archaeological resource. When a violation has resulted in damage to the archaeological resource, the fair market value may be determined using the condition of the archaeological resource prior to the violation, to the extent its prior condition can be ascertained.*

*(4) "Cost of restoration and repair" means the sum of the costs incurred for emergency restoration or repairs to an archaeological resource, plus those costs projected to be necessary to complete restoration and repair, which may include, but need not be limited to, the costs of the following:*

*(a) Reconstruction of the archaeological resource;*

*(b) Stabilization of the archaeological resource;*

*(c) Ground contour reconstruction and surface stabilization;*

*(d) Physical barriers or other protective devices, necessitated by the disturbance of the archaeological resource, to protect it from further disturbance;*

*(e) Examination and analysis of the archaeological resource, including recording remaining archaeological information, where necessitated by disturbance, in order to salvage remaining resources that cannot be otherwise conserved; or*

*(f) Preparation of reports relating to any of the activities described in this section.*

*(5) "Posted lands" means lands where the State has complied with the notice or warning requirement which must either be posted or given to an offender pursuant to Section 16-11-600.*

*(B) The court may call upon the Office of the State Archaeologist to provide evidence to assist in determining, calculating, or computing archaeological value, commercial value, or the cost of restoration and repair of an archaeological resource.*

*(C) It is unlawful for a person to willfully, knowingly, or maliciously enter upon the lands of another or the posted lands of the State and disturb or excavate a prehistoric or historic site for the purpose of discovering, uncovering, moving, removing, or attempting to remove an archaeological resource. Each unlawful entry and act of disturbance or excavation of a prehistoric or historic site constitutes a separate and distinct offense.*

*(D) For a first offense, a person who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined, imprisoned, or both, pursuant to the jurisdiction of magistrates as provided in Section 22-3-550.*

*(E) For a second offense for violating this section on the same property as the first offense or on another posted property, a person who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not less than one thousand dollars or more than three thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than three years, or both.*

*(F) For a third or subsequent offense for violating this section on the same property as the first offense or on another posted property, a person who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than five thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.*

*(G) For the purposes of subsections (E) and (F) of this section, a second, third, or subsequent offense on the same property as the first offense or on another posted property must include no offense that occurs more than ten years after conviction for the first offense.*

*(H) All equipment and conveyances including, but not limited to, trailers, motor vehicles, and water-going vessels that were used in connection with felony violations of this section are subject to forfeiture to the State in the same manner as equipment and conveyances are subject to forfeiture pursuant to Section 44-53-520, if the offender either owns the equipment or conveyance or is a resident of the equipment or conveyance owner's household.*

(1) All equipment and conveyances subject to confiscation and forfeiture under this section may be confiscated by any law enforcement officer as provided in this section. The confiscating officer shall deliver the confiscated property immediately to the county or municipality where the offense occurred. The county or municipality shall notify the registered owner of the confiscated property by certified mail within seventy-two hours of the confiscation. Upon notice, the registered owner has ten days to request a hearing before the court. The confiscation hearing must be held within ten days from the date of receipt of the request. The confiscated property must be returned to the registered owner if the registered owner shows by a preponderance of the evidence that he did not know the confiscated property was used in the commission of the crime, that he did not give permission for the confiscated property to be used in the commission of the crime, and that the confiscated property had not been used for a previous violation of this section on the posted land where this offense occurred or other posted land.

(2) The county or municipality in possession of the confiscated property shall provide notice by certified mail of the confiscation to all lienholders of record within ten days of the confiscation.

(3) Forfeiture of property is subordinate in priority to all valid liens and encumbrances.

(4) A person whose property is subject to forfeiture under this section is entitled to a jury trial if requested.

(I) The landowner, in the case of private lands, or the State, in the case of state lands, may bring a civil action for a violation of this section to recover the greater of the archaeological resource's archaeological value or commercial value, and the cost of restoration and repair of the site where the archaeological resource was located, plus attorney's fees and court costs.

(J) Nothing contained in this section shall limit or interfere with a landowner's lawful use of his property or with the state's ability to conduct archaeological investigations or excavations on either state lands or private lands with the consent of the landowner.

(K) Nothing contained in this section shall limit or interfere with:

(1) A landowner's lawful use of his property;

(2) The lawful acts of a landowner's employee, agent, or independent contractor acting in the scope of and in the course of his employment, agreement, or contract;

(3) The lawful acts of a utility worker acting in the scope of and in the course of his employment; or

(4) The state's ability to conduct archaeological investigations or excavations on either state lands or private lands with the consent of the landowner.

Because this matter on appeal is a case of first impression in South Carolina, the above statute was cited in its entirety to provide sufficient context of legislative intent. No case law exists interpreting this statute. In the Trial Court's order granting summary judgment in this

matter, the Trial Court construed this statute, specifically, Section 16-11-780(C) to be inapplicable to the facts and circumstances of the present case. As a preliminary finding, the trial court found that this statute is part of South Carolina's criminal code. The statute is located in Title 16 of the Code (Crimes and Offenses of the South Carolina Code of Laws) and contains language which is clearly criminal in nature, specifically the penalty provisions which provide for a term of imprisonment for offenses.

"The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 529, 683 S.E.2d 280, 282 (2009). When a statute is penal in nature, it must be strictly construed against the State and in favor of the defendant. State v. Blackmon, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991). However, "[a]ll rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute." State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010).

In ascertaining legislative intent, "a court should not focus on any single section or provision but should consider the language of the statute as a whole." Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996). Where the statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning. Gay v. Ariail, 381 S.C. 341, 345, 673 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2009). If the statute is ambiguous, however, courts must construe the terms of the statute. Lester v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n, 334 S.C. 557, 561, 514 S.E.2d 751, 752 (1999). "A statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers." Sloan v.

S.C. Bd. of Physical Therapy Exam'rs, 370 S.C. 452, 468, 636 S.E.2d 598, 606–07 (2006). In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose. Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992). “Any ambiguity in a statute should be resolved in favor of a just, equitable, and beneficial operation of the law.” Bennett v. Sullivan's Island Bd. of Adjustment, 313 S.C. 455, 458, 438 S.E.2d 273, 274 (Ct.App.1993). Courts will reject a statutory interpretation that would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention. Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000). The Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 713 S.E.2d 278 (S.C., 2011).

The trial court was persuaded by the clear, plain and unambiguous language of Section 16-11-780(C):

*(C) It is unlawful for a person to willfully, knowingly, or maliciously enter upon the lands of another or the posted lands of the State and disturb or excavate a prehistoric or historic site for the purpose of discovering, uncovering, moving, removing, or attempting to remove an archaeological resource. Each unlawful entry and act of disturbance or excavation of a prehistoric or historic site constitutes a separate and distinct offense.*

Where a statute is not ambiguous, the rules of construction do not apply. “Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute.” Jones v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 364 S.C. 222, 231, 612 S.E.2d 719, 724 (Ct.App.2005) (citing Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (S.C., 2000); Bayle v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 344 S.C. at 122, 542 S.E.2d at 739 (Ct.App.2001)). “When the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning.” Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. at 24, 579 S.E.2d at 334 (Ct.App.2003) (citing Cooper v. Moore, 351 S.C. 207, 212, 569 S.E.2d 330, 332 (2002); Holley v. Mount Vernon Mills, Inc., 312

S.C. 320, 440 S.E.2d 373 (1994); Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing, Regulation, 337 S.C. 476, 523 S.E.2d 795 (Ct.App.1999); see also Parsons v. Georgetown Steel, 318 S.C. 63, 65, 456 S.E.2d 366, 367 (1995) ("Where the terms of a relevant statute are clear, there is no room for construction."). Eagle Container v. County of Newberry, 622 S.E.2d 733, 366 S.C. 611 (S.C., 2005).

The clear reading of the statute evidences the legislature's intent to criminalize individuals unlawfully entering on the lands of another "for the purpose of" removing or injuring an archaeological resource which does not belong to them.

The Appellants argument in their initial brief is wholly without merit. The Appellants would put forth the idea that the gravamen of the unlawful act outlawed by this statute is the entering on the lands of another. That would transform this statute into a form of criminal trespass, analogous to SC Code Ann. Section 16-11-620, commonly referred to as "trespassing" or "trespass after notice".

But a cursory reading of the entirety of Section 16-11-780 reveals unquestionably that the gravamen of the criminal act addressed is the disturbing of an "Archaeological Resource" as defined by the statute. And because a criminal statute requires a degree of *mens rea*, the wrongdoer must have knowledge that the land contains such an archaeological resource. The legislature's intent in this act is clear that entering onto the lands of another *for the purpose of* interfering with an archaeological resource is a criminal act. Inasmuch as Appellants brought this as civil suit, this criminal statute is inapplicable.

**II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS SECTION 16-1-780, THEREFORE THE LIABILITY OF THE RESPONDENTS FOR "ACTUAL AND CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE OF**

**THE EXISTENCE OF HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES" IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT.**

The Appellants included in their Statement of Issues on Appeal that the Respondents should be liable on other grounds than the statute, but that was not argued nor preserved below. If this Court upholds the Order of the Trial Court granting summary judgment on the cause of action based upon the archaeological resource statute, the remaining causes of action, including other grounds for liability, will be litigated below upon remittitur.

**III. THE ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES HAVE NEVER BEEN DESIGNATED AS HISTORIC BY ANY APPLICABLE AND/OR GOVERNING PRESERVATION OR CONSERVATION AUTHORITY**

The Appellant's belief that this small site is historic despite never having been declared such is the crux of the conflict in this litigation. The Appellants, specifically Appellant Brinkman, insists that the entirety of the known world should accept as true *his* opinion that this bridge abutment exists on this property. The City of Columbia, in its duty to inspect, repair and maintain its sewer lines, hired contractors and engineers to preserve the integrity of the Castle Road line which runs adjacent to the Broad River. While it is true that the Appellants would seek to have the rocks on their property identified as historic, their efforts have been fruitless.

As the trial court found, "Thereafter, in May, 2008, in response to Mr. Brinkman's request for a listing on the National Registry, the South Carolina Archives and History Center – State Preservation Office (SHPO) determined, among other things, additional research and other steps needed to be complete before the site could be eligible for consideration".

The trial court relied on the Letter to David Brinkman from the State Historic Preservation Office, May 30, 2008 which questioned, in pertinent part:

“... Whether there is a sufficient amount of physical remains from the ferry and bridge site to convey in any tangible way the history of this areas of the river before, during and immediately following the Civil War.” (R. pp. 58-59).

In 2015, when the work on this project was performed by the Respondents, this site had not been declared historic by SHPO. Today, as this appeal is considered ten years following the original SHPO determination, the site is still not designated as historic by a person or department with the authority to do so.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT NEVER “CONCLUDED THAT DESIGNATION ON THE NATIONAL REGISTER WAS A REQUIREMENT FOR SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS SECTION 16-11-780 TO BE APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.**

Any discussion of the National Registry by the trial court in this matter came directly from the record of the case, specifically the letter from SHPO to Appellant Brinkman. The trial court’s conclusion was “no authoritative body has designated this site as historically significant and Plaintiff’s own archaeological expert believes additional archaeological work and research are needed, [therefore] Plaintiff’s claims under Section 16-11-780 fail as a matter of law.”

It is axiomatic that in order to prevail under Section 16-11-780 the property must contain an archaeological resource as defined therein. Having failed to show such a resource, the Court was correct in its statement and there was no error of law.

This Issue on Appeal is not properly before this Court therefore and should be stricken.

**V. THE CIRCUIT COURT’S MISSTATEMENT OF THE LAW IS NOT GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL.**

The inclusion of “for the sole purpose” does not eliminate the need for that to be a purpose or one purpose. The Court was clear; there was no historical structure so thus no purpose of the City to disturb it.

**VI. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE UTILITY WORKER EXCEPTION AS CONTAINED IN SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS SECTION 16-11-780(K)(3).**

Section 16-11-780(K)(3) states, in pertinent part:

*(K) Nothing contained in this section shall limit or interfere with:*

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